#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JONATHAN HUEY LAWRENCE,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

## **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

CHET KAUFMAN FLORIDA BAR NO. 0814253 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER

CASE NO. SC00-1827 CIR. NO. 98-270-CFA

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

# PAGE(S)

Table of (	Conten	<b>.ts</b> i
Table of A	Author	ities
Prelimina	ry Sta	tement
Statement	t of the	e Case
А.	<u>Agg</u>	ravation Findings 2
В.	<u>Miti</u>	gation Findings 3
C.	<u>Non</u>	capital Sentences 4
Statement	t of the	e Facts

Certi	ficate	of Service	
Certi	ficate	of Compliance	
Appe	ndix		

# PAGE(S)

## **U.S. SUPREME COURT CASES**

<u>Almendarez-Torres v. United States</u> , 523 U.S. 224 (1998) 81,85,96,97
<u>Apodaca v. Oregon</u> , 406 U.S. 404 (1972) 77
<u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u> , 120 S. Ct. 2348 (2000) 35,73-97
Burch v. Louisiana, 441 U.S. 130 (1979) 77
<u>Chambers v. Mississippi</u> , 410 U.S. 284 (1973) 59
<u>Chapman v. California</u> , 386 U.S. 18 (1967) 60
<u>Cooper v. Oklahoma</u> , 517 U.S. 348 (1996) 48,49
<u>Drope v. Missouri</u> , 420 U.S. 16 (1975) 32,47-53
<u>Dusky v. United States</u> , 362 U.S. 402 (1960) 47
Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104 (1982) 55,59
Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992) 81,82,92,94,95
<u>Hildwin v. Florida</u> , 490 U.S. 638 (1989)
<u>House v. Mayo</u> , 324 U.S. 42 (1945) 92
<u>In re Winship</u> , 397 U.S. 358 (1970) 75
Johnson v. Louisiana, 406 U.S. 356 (1972) 77
Jones v. United States, 526 U.S. 227 (1999) 85
Lambrix v. Singletary, 520 U.S. 518 (1997) 60,81,82,92-94
Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978) 55,59,60
<u>McCloud v. Florida</u> , 121 S. Ct. 751 (2001) ( <u>McCloud V</u> )
<u>McMillan v. Pennsylvania</u> , 477 U.S. 79 (1986) 85,95,96,97
<u>Mitchell v. United States</u> , 526 U.S. 314 (1999) 52,92,93
<u>Moran v. Burbine</u> , 475 U.S. 412 (1986) 97
Parker v. Dugger, 498 U.S. 308 (1991)
Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375 (1966) 47-50

# PAGE(S)

Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242 (1976) 70,98
<u>Richardson v. United States</u> , 526 U.S. 813 (1999) 88-89
<u>Romano v. Oklahoma</u> , 512 U.S. 1 (1994) 88
<u>Schad v. Arizona</u> , 501 U.S. 624 (1991) 87-89
<u>Simmons v. United States</u> , 390 U.S. 377 (1968) 59
<u>Sochor v. Florida</u> , 504 U.S. 527 (1992) 94
<u>The Paquete Habana</u> , 175 U.S. 677 (1900)
<u>Walton v. Arizona</u> , 497 U.S. 639 (1990) 80-83,92,94
<u>Weeks v. Delaware</u> , 121 S. Ct. 476 (2001) 93

## FLORIDA CASES

Allen v. Butterworth, 756 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2000) 53,73,79
<u>Almeida v. State</u> , 748 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1999) 35,36,41
Amendments to Fla. Rules of Appellate Procedure, 780 So. 2d 834 (Fla. 2000)
<u>Amoros v. State</u> , 531 So. 2d 1256 (Fla. 1988) 93
Beasley v. State, 774 So. 2d 649 (Fla. 2000) 55
<u>Besaraba v. State</u> , 656 So. 2d 441 (Fla. 1995)
Bryant v. State, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S218 (Fla. Apr. 5, 2001) 47,50
Bryant v. State, 744 So. 2d 1225 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999)
Buckner v. State, 714 So. 2d (Fla. 1998) 74
Burns v. State, 699 So. 2d 646 (Fla. 1997) 59
Campbell v. State, 571 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 1990), overruled in part on other grounds, Trease v. State, 768 So. 2d 1050 (Fla. 2000) 34,70-71
<u>Chaky v. State</u> , 651 So. 2d 1169 (Fla. 1995) 37
<u>Cooper v. State</u> , 739 So. 2d 82 (Fla. 1999)
Curtis v. State, 685 So. 2d 1234 (Fla. 1996) 38

<u>DeAngelo v. State</u> , 616 So. 2d 440 (Fla. 1993) 39
<u>Delgado v. State</u> , 776 So. 2d 233 (Fla. 2000)
Department of Legal Affairs v. District Court of Appeal, 5 <sup>th</sup> District, 434 So. 2d 310 (Fla. 1983)
<u>Fitzpatrick v. State</u> , 527 So. 2d 809 (Fla. 1988) 39
Fowler v. State, 255 So. 2d 513 (Fla. 1971)
Geralds v. State, 601 So. 2d 1157 (Fla. 1992) 65,68
<u>Gibbs v. State</u> , 623 So. 2d 551 (Fla. 4 <sup>th</sup> DCA 1993)
Goodwin v. State, 751 So. 2d 537(Fla. 1999) 71
Gore v. Dugger, 532 So. 2d 1048 (Fla. 1988)
Haliburton v. State, 514 So. 2d 1088 (Fla. 1987)
Hawk v. State, 718 So. 2d 159 (Fla. 1998) 37
Hazen v. State, 700 So. 2d 1207 (Fla. 1997) 41
<u>Heggs v. State</u> , 759 So. 2d 620 (Fla. 2000) 83
Hess v. State, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S337 (Fla. May 17, 2001)
Huckaby v. State, 343 So. 2d 29 (Fla. 1977) 39-40
Jackson (Andrea) v. State, 648 So. 2d 85 (Fla. 1994)
Jackson (Clinton) v. State, 575 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 1991) 41
<u>James v. State</u> , 695 So. 2d 1229 (Fla. 1997) 59
Jones v. State, 92 So. 2d 261 (Fla. 1956)
Jorgenson v. State, 714 So. 2d 423 (Fla. 1998) 37
Knowles v. State, 632 So. 2d 62 (Fla. 1993) 37
Kormondy v. State, 703 So. 2d 454 (Fla. 1997) 69
Kramer v. State, 619 So. 2d 274 (Fla. 1993) 39
Lane v. State, 388 So. 2d 1022 (Fla. 1980) 47,48,49,50
Larkin v. State, 739 So. 2d 90 (Fla. 1999) 35,37

PAGE(S)
Livingston v. State, 565 So. 2d 1288 (Fla. 1988)
Maulden v. State, 617 So. 2d 298 (Fla. 1993) 37
<u>McCloud v. State</u> , 23 Fla. L. Weekly D2469 (Fla. 5 <sup>th</sup> DCA Nov. 6, 1998) ( <u>McCloud I</u> )
McCloud v. State, (Fla. 5 <sup>th</sup> DCA 1999), 741 So. 2d 512, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D153 (Fla. 5 <sup>th</sup> DCA Jan. 8, 1999) (on rehearing granted) (McCloud II) 83
<u>McCloud v. State</u> , 741 So. 2d 512, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2220 (Fla. 5 <sup>th</sup> DCA Sept. 24, 1999) (on rehearing en banc) ( <u>McCloud III</u> ) 88-86
<u>McCloud v. State</u> , 767 So. 2d 458 (Fla. 2000) ( <u>McCloud IV</u> ) 85
Miller v. State, 373 So. 2d 882 (Fla. 1979) 39-40
Mills v. Moore, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S242 (Fla. April 12, 2001)
Moore v. State, 701 So. 2d 545 (Fla. 1997) 55-56
Morgan v. State, 639 So. 2d 6 (Fla. 1994) 38
Morgan v. State 537 So. 2d 973 (Fla. 1989) 56
Morton v. State, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S_, 2001 WL 721089 (Fla. June 28, 2001)
Nibert v. State, 574 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 1990)
<u>Omelus v. State</u> , 584 So. 2d 563 (Fla. 1991) 65
Peck v. State, 425 So. 2d 664 (Fla. 2 <sup>nd</sup> DCA 1983)
Porter v. State, 564 So. 2d 1060 (Fla. 1990) 35
Robertson v. State, 699 So. 2d 1343 (Fla. 1997), receded from in part on other grounds, <u>Delgado v. State</u> , 776 So. 2d 233 (Fla. 2000) 38,47,49,50
Rodgers v. State, 783 So. 2d 980 (Fla. 2001)
Scott v. State, 420 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 1982) 48,49
Sexton v. State, 775 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 2000) 70
<u>Snipes v. State</u> , 733 So. 2d 1999 (Fla. 2000) 38
Songer v. State, 544 So. 2d 1010 (Fla. 1989)
Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993) 2,5

Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, 690 So. 2d 1263 (Fla. 1996) 86
<u>State v. Dixon</u> , 283 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973) 36,75
<u>State v. Glatzmayer,</u> 26 Fla. L. Weekly S279 (Fla. May 3, 2001) 35,50,57,65,71,73-74
<u>State v. Harbaugh</u> , 754 So. 2d 691 (Fla. 2000)
<u>State v. Hargrove</u> , 694 So. 2d 729 (Fla. 1997) 79
<u>State v. Overfelt</u> , 457 So. 2d 1385 (Fla. 1984)
<u>State v. Tripp</u> , 642 So. 2d 728 (Fla. 1994) 79
<u>State ex rel. Wright v. Yawn</u> , 320 So. 2d 880 (Fla. 1s DCA 1975) 58
<u>Taylor v. State</u> , 601 So. 2d 1304 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) 57
<u>Tillman v. State</u> , 591 So. 2d 167 (Fla. 1991)
<u>Tingle v. State</u> , 536 So. 2d 202 (Fla. 1988) 49
<u>Traylor v. State</u> , 596 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 1992) 97
<u>Trease v. State</u> , 768 So. 2d 1050 (Fla. 2000)
<u>Tucker v. State</u> , 726 So. 2d 768 (Fla. 1999) 79
<u>Urbin v. State</u> , 714 So. 2d 411 (Fla. 1998) 38
<u>Walker v. State</u> , 384 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980) 49
<u>Williams v. State</u> , 622 So. 2d 456 (Fla. 1993) 65
<u>Williams v. State</u> , 438 So. 2d 781 (Fla. 1983)
<u>Wright v. State</u> , 586 So. 2d 1024 (Fla. 1991) 59

## **OTHER CASES**

Aloeboetoe et al. v. Suriname, Inter-Am. Ct. H.R., Judgment of 10 September 1993, Inter-Am. Ct. H.R. (Ser. C) No. 15 (1994)	90
Blazak v. Ricketts, 1 F. 3d 891 (9th Cir. 1993)	48
Delta Air Lines, Inc. v. ALPA, Int'l, 238 F. 3d 1300 (11th Cir. 2001)	56

## PAGE(S)

<u>In re Celotex Corp</u> , 227 F. 3d 1336 (11 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2000) 56
LaGrand Case (Germany v. United States of America), Judgment of 27 June 2001, International Court of Justice
Lokos v. Capps, 625 F. 2d 1258 (5th Cir. 1980) 44,51
Soering v. United Kingdom, 161 Eur. Ct. H.R. (ser. A) (1989) 90
<u>State v. Gould</u> , 23 P.3d 801 (Kan. 2001) 75
<u>State v. Weeks</u> , 761 A.2d 804 (Del. 2000) 92
Strayhorn v. United States, 250 F. 3d 462 (6 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001)
United States v. Sigma International, Inc., 244 F. 3d 841 (11th Cir. 2001) 56

#### **CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS**

United States Constitution	
Amendment VI	42,51,53,59,65,70,73,98
Amendment VIII	42,51,53,55,59,65,70,73,98
Amendment XIV	42,51,53,55,59,65,70,73,98
Article I, section 8, clause 10	
Article III, section 2, clause 1	
Article V, clause 2	
Florida Constitution	
Article I, section 2	42,51,55,65
Article I, section 9 35	,42,51,53,55,59,65,70,97,98
Article I, section 16	42,51,53,55,59,65,70,97,98
Article I, section 17	35,42,51,53,55,59,65,70,98
Article I, section 1 (1885 rev.)	
Article II, section 3	56
Article V, section 2(a)	56

GE(S)
,73,98
57
57
76
76
76
72,76
,59,95
76
2
. 3,66
3
. 4,61
,53,61
3
3
86
83
83,86
84
84

Florida Statutes (1993)
Section 782.04(1)(a)
Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure
Rule 9.210(b)(5)
Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure
Rule 3.210(b)
Rule 3.211(a)(1) 47
New Jersey Statutes Annotated (West Supp. 2000)
Section 2C:43-7(a)(3)
Section 2C:44-3(e)
New Jersey Statutes Annotated (West 1995)
Section 2C:39- 4(a)
Section 2C:43-6(a)(2)
ATHED AUTHADITIES

### **OTHER AUTHORITIES**

Amnesty International, <u>"International Standards on the Death Penalty"</u> (August, 1997)	91
Driggs, Ken, <u>"The Most Aggravated and Least Mitigated Murders": Capital</u> <u>Proportionality Review in Florida</u> , 11 St. Thomas L. Rev. 207 (1999)	35
International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, Article 6	91
U.N. Human Rights Committee General Comment 24, U.N. Doc. HRI/GEN/1/Rev.3 ¶ 8 (1997)	90

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### JONATHAN HUEY LAWRENCE,

Appellant,

VS.

CASE NO. SC00-1827 CIR. NO. 98-270-CFA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is the direct appeal of the convictions of first-degree murder and related charges, and imposition of the sentence of death for the murder of Jennifer Robinson. All of the charged criminal activity involved two men, Jeremiah Rodgers and Jonathan Huey Lawrence, who were both charged with murder and other offenses. The prosecutions were conducted separately in the circuit court. This record contains no evidence of Rodgers' proceedings.

This record on appeal consists of two volumes of record, seven volumes of transcript, and eight supplemental volumes. Pages in the two volumes of record will be referred to as R#P#. Pages in the seven volumes of transcript will be referred to as T#P#. Pages in the supplemental record will be referred to as S#P#. Standards of review are discussed in each issue to conform with Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.210(b)(5).

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

A grand jury of Santa Rosa County returned an indictment on June 4, 1998, charging Jonathan with crimes arising from the death of Jennifer Robinson: Count I,

conspiracy to commit first degree murder; Count II, giving alcoholic beverages to a person under twenty-one; Count III, principal to first-degree premeditated murder; and Count IV, abuse of a dead human body. All the charges alleged the acts occurred on or about May 7, 1998. See R1P10-12.<sup>1</sup>

Jury selection took place before the Honorable Kenneth B. Bell on March 13, 2000, two weeks before the scheduled trial date. <u>See</u> T2P57-T3P276. However, on Friday, March 24, 2000, Jonathan waived the guilt phase and pleaded guilty as charged to Counts I-IV. <u>See</u> T1P1-34. In so doing he exercised his right to a full capital penalty phase before a jury as to Count III. <u>See</u> § 921.141(1), Fla. Stat. (1997). The trial court accepted the pleas and orally adjudicated him guilty of each count. <u>See</u> T1P33.

Trial of the penalty phase commenced on March 27, 2000, <u>see</u> T3P278, and concluded on March 30, 2000, when the jury returned an 11-1 general sentence recommendation in favor of death on Count III, <u>see</u> T6P963, R2P312. The trial court held a presentence hearing<sup>2</sup> on April 13, 2000, <u>see</u> R2P313-16, and imposed sentence on August 15, 2000, <u>see</u> R2P373-98, R2P331-53, R2P354-63. Jonathan timely filed a notice of appeal on September 5, 2000. <u>See</u> R2P364.

#### A. <u>Aggravation Findings</u>

In support of the death sentence for Count III, the trial court found two aggravating circumstances:

- 1. prior conviction of another capital or violent felony.<sup>3</sup> See R2P332-33, R2P378-79; and
- 2. cold, calculated and premeditated without any pretense of legal or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1.</sup> The trial court subsequently severed, and the State nol prossed, a fifth count that charged possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. <u>See</u> S3P359, R2P328, R2P374, T1P1-34. The last page of the indictment containing a portion of Count V was omitted from this record, apparently by inadvertence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>. <u>See Spencer v. State</u>, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3.</sup> <u>See § 921.141(5)(b)</u>, Fla. Stat. (1997).

moral justification.<sup>4</sup> See R2P328-38, R2P379-83.

#### B. <u>Mitigation Findings</u>

The trial court found that nine statutory and nonstatutory mitigating

circumstances had been proved and deserved weight:5

- 1. The capital felony was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance,<sup>6</sup> giving it "considerable weight." <u>See</u> R2P338-43, R2P383-87;
- 2. The capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his or her conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirement of law was substantially impaired,<sup>7</sup> giving it "considerable weight." <u>See</u> R2P338-43, R2P383-87;
- **3.** The age of the defendant at the time of the crime,<sup>8</sup> wherein his "mental and emotional maturity was less than his chronological age" of 23, getting "some" or "little" weight. See R2P346, R2P389-90;
- 4. Jonathan was raised in a sick, disturbed, and chaotic home. His "dysfunctional home life and difficult childhood certainly had an impact on his life. This evidence clearly extenuates or reduces the degree of his moral culpability for the crime and is afforded considerable weight." See R2P347-48, R2P390-91;
- 5. Jonathan had a caring and giving relationship to his family, especially his mother, who had health problems. It got "little weight." <u>See</u> R2P346-47, R2P390-91;
- 6. Jonathan's statements "may constitute an apology. They do not rise to the level of extreme remorse. Therefore, the Court affords little weight to this non-statutory mitigator." <u>See</u> R2P348, R2P391;
- 7. Jonathan cooperated with law enforcement, led officers to the body, and assisted them in solving the crime. This warrants "some weight." <u>See</u> R2P348, R2P392;

- <sup>7.</sup> <u>See § 921.141(6)(f)</u>, Fla. Stat. (1997).
- <sup>8.</sup> <u>See</u> § 921.141(6)(g), Fla. Stat. (1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>. <u>See</u> § 921.141(5)(i), Fla. Stat. (1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5.</sup> The trial court called the first three mitigators "STATUTORILY SPECIFIED MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES." R2P338. Without explaining any meaningful distinction, the court labeled the mitigators enumerated (4) & (5) as "SECTION 921.141(6)H, NON-SPECIFIED MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES," R2P16, while labeling the remaining mitigating factors as "NON-STATUTORY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES," S2P348.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6.</sup> <u>See</u> § 921.141(6)(b), Fla. Stat. (1997).

- 8. Jonathan "offered to testify against the co-defendant in exchange for a life sentence with no parole. However, given the magnitude of the evidence against the Defendant, any such offer could be as much motivated by a desire to avoid the death penalty and thus not meet the definition of mitigating evidence. This factor is entitled to little weight." See R2P349, R2P393-94; and
- **9.** Jonathan's "model behavior as an inmate. The Defendant is a well-behaved inmate," warranting "little weight." <u>See</u> R2P349, R2P394.

The trial court rejected the statutory mitigators of extreme emotional duress or substantial domination of another,<sup>9</sup> and relatively minor participation in a capital felony committed by another.<sup>10</sup> See R2P343-46, R2P388-89. The court also appeared to reject as nonstatutory mitigation the fact that Jonathan pleaded guilty to the crimes. See R2P348-49, R2P392-93.

#### C. <u>Noncapital Sentences</u>

The trial court imposed a prison sentence of 221.5 months on Count I, 180 months' imprisonment on Count IV, and time served on Count II. The prison sentences are to be served concurrent with each other but consecutive to the death sentence in Count III. <u>See</u> R2P329-30, R2P350-51, R2P396-97.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

All of the State's evidence introduced to the jury was presented in the penalty phase. Because Jonathan's plea was accepted prior to the penalty phase, there was no presentation of evidence as to guilt. A brief statement of facts presented by the State and agreed to by the defense to support the guilty plea was not presented to the jury in the jury penalty proceedings. The State's penalty evidence concerned the period of time from March 29, 1998, to May 7, 1998, during which three incidents occurred. Chronologically, they are: (1) Jeremiah Rodgers shot an injured Leighton Smitherman on March 29, 1998; (2) Jeremiah

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9.</sup> <u>See</u> § 921.141(6)(e), Fla. Stat. (1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10.</sup> See § 921.141(6)(d), Fla. Stat. (1997).

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