IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JONATHAN HUEY LAWRENCE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. SC00-1827

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 159089

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 EXT 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

See also Bryant v. State, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S218 (Fla. April 5, 2001) ("Although Bryant is technically correct in his argument that the trial court misstated defense witness Gaines' testimony, this misstatement does not undermine the conclusion that the mitigator was not established by the greater weight of the evidence"); Ford v. State, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S602 (Fla. September 13, 2001) (upheld, based upon "supported by competent substantial evidence," trial court finding that mitigators of learning disabled and developmental age of fourteen were proved but entitled to no weight "based on extensive testimony by other witnesses showing that Ford functions well as a mature adult"; trial court's other mitigators harmless based upon their "minor and tangential position in the present record ... vast aggravation, including

- 70 -

multiple execution-style murders ... weight to numerous other mitigators").

<u>Cf.</u> <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 548 So.2d 198, 203-204 (Fla. 1989) ("mental subnormality or impairment alone does not render a confession involuntary"; held that applying the "totality of the circumstances" test, "other substantial evidence suggesting that this subnormality was not so severe as to render" statements inadmissible); Orme v. State, 677 So.2d 258, 262-63 (Fla. 1996) (rejected claim that the defendant "too intoxicated with drugs to knowingly and voluntarily waive his right to silence"; trial court accredited officer's testimony that defendant "coherent and responsive" in the face of conflicting evidence); Viovenel v. State, 581 So.2d 930, 932 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) (state offered evidence in the form of lay testimony to prove Viovenel sane and state effectively impeached the testimony of Viovenel's experts; trial judge, sitting as the trier of fact, resolved the conflict in the evidence in favor of Viovenel's sanity; permitted to reject the expert testimony and to give more weight to the lay testimony).

In sum, as the trial court found, Lawrence was a fullfledged, voluntary collaborator with Rodgers in this murder and failed to prove substantial domination:

Regardless of who was the leader, the evidence demonstrates that Lawrence's involvement was active, significant and voluntary. He was a major participant, not a minor accomplice. See Valdes v. State, 626 So.2d 1316, 1324 (Fla. 1993) (characterizing codefendant as

- 71 -

the major participant in a criminal episode does not mean defendant's participation was minor). [footnote omitted] There is insufficient evidence to establish Mr. Rodgers substantially dominated Lawrence or that he was under extreme duress. Therefore, Lawrence has failed to establish by the greater weight of the evidence the presence of these two aggravators.

(R-II 346, App. A)

Moreover, for all of the foregoing reasons, as well all of the facts establishing death as a proportionate sentence, any complaint that Lawrence has about the trial court's analysis is harmless and not the basis of giving him a new penalty proceeding. <u>See Gore</u>, 26 Fla. L. Weekly at *10 n. 10 ("trial court's description of the final moments of the homicide was based upon speculation"; "harmless in view of the other strong evidence supporting the trial court's multiple findings that support the CCP aggravating circumstance").

ISSUE IV

DID THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERR BY FINDING CCP? (Restated)

Most of ISSUE IV can be conceptualized as grounded upon the ISSUE III: Because Lawrence is a mindless robot doing what Rodgers tells him, i.e., because Rodgers is dominating him, Lawrence could not have engaged in CCP. Rodgers alone formed the premeditation to murder the victim, and Rodgers' shooting of the victim was nothing but a surprise to Lawrence. Lawrence argues that the limited capacity of his mind did not provide him the wherewithal for CCP. He argues that he was able to

- 72 -

perform simple tasks, like a mouse fortuitously finding cheese, and not capable of planning this murder.

Lawrence is wrong on all counts. Lawrence **and** Rodgers participated in the planning and murdering of Jennifer Robinson. The State has discussed CCP at length in ISSUE I, especially section B 1, and discussed substantial domination at length in ISSUE III, so the discussion here will be brief.

The standard of appellate review is whether there was substantial competent evidence supporting the trial court's finding. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Gore v. State</u>, 26 Fla. L. Weekly at *9 ("trial court's ruling on an aggravating circumstance will be sustained on review as long as the court applied the right rule of law and its ruling is supported by competent substantial evidence in the record").

To dispose of this issue, one need look no further than Rodgers' plea to conspiracy to commit **this murder**. Lawrence under oath admitted that he agreed in advance to commit this murder. <u>See</u> ISSUE I, section B 1; <u>Echols</u>; <u>Fotopoulos</u>; <u>Archer</u>; <u>Hoskins</u>. Further, Lawrence under oath agreed (T-I 15) to the prosecutor's statement that Lawrence wrote the note that "went into great detail about **their** plans that night" (T-I 7). Lawrence was no aimless mouse.

Even independent of Lawrence's plea to conspiracy to commit this murder and independent of his in-court admission that the notes reflected the "details" of "their" plans, the evidence was sufficient for CCP.

- 73 -

Lawrence (IB 67) attempts to characterize his role of writing the notes as simply writing down what Rodgers told him. As discussed in ISSUE III, he is wrong. For example, Lawrence's detailed confession (App. C) indicates a mental wherewithal far exceeding a mindless mouse. Lawrence had the presence of mind, before providing many of the details concerning Jennifer Robinson's murder, to lie to the police about not knowing her and to lie to the police about knowing nothing about Polaroid paraphernalia. The trial court correctly pointed out (R-II 344) that Lawrence's attempt to mitigate his responsibility was foiled when Lawrence told the police:

Officer: Did he participate in the subjects here magetting you to write 'em?

Lawrence: Yeah, he'd just tell me just bad things to write down. I'd think of a few and write stuff down. *** (T-IV 539. See also ISSUE III, supra, for numerous other examples in Lawrence's statement of Lawrence's active role)

Lawrence cites (IB 68) to <u>Besaraba v. State</u>, 656 So.2d 441 (Fla. 1995), but <u>Besaraba</u>, <u>inter alia</u>, involved no in-court admission to conspiring to kill the victim, no to-do list and supply list written in the defendant's own hand. Here, unlike <u>Besaraba</u>, Lawrence not only "concocted a careful plan to kill," 656 So.2d at 446, this victim, but also wrote it down and even checked off some of the items.

The State also notes that a finding of statutory mental mitigation does not preclude CCP. <u>See Sexton v. State</u>, 775

- 74 -

So.2d 923, 936-37 (Fla. 2000) (upheld a death sentence and considered the "egregious" facts underlying the aggravators of "CCP and avoiding arrest aggravators"; trial judge gave "great weight to the statutory mitigator of 'under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance'"); <u>Cruse v. State</u>, 588 So.2d 983, 992 (Fla.1991) (finding that the defendant's advance procurement of weapon and ample time for reflection supported CCP notwithstanding finding that defendant acted under extreme mental or emotional disturbance); <u>Zakrzewski v.</u> <u>State</u>, 717 So.2d 488, 492 (Fla. 1998) (CCP upheld; "Zakrzewski asserts that because he was under extreme emotional distress at the time of the murders, it was impossible for him to commit the murders in a cold, calculated, and premeditated fashion").

For these reasons, the extensive and well-reasoned discourse in the trial court's order (App. A), and the reasons discussed in ISSUE I and ISSUE III <u>supra</u>, there was competent, substantial evidence supporting the trial court's finding of CCP, and ISSUE IV is without merit.

- 75 -

ISSUE V

DID THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERR BY RELYING ON FACTS DEHORS THE EVIDENCE OR BY RENDERING AN ORDER THAT WAS UNRELIABLY VAGUE IN ASSIGNING MITIGATION? (Restated)

Lawrence's claim (IB 68-70) that the trial court relied on Rodgers' assertion that Lawrence shot the victim is, to put it bluntly, a non-starter. The trial court mentioned Rodgers' allegation in passing, but it was clear in the trial court's order that the trial court accepted Rodgers as the shooter when evaluating the aggravation and mitigation.³³ Thus, the footnote targeted here itself states that the trial court "has accepted as true" the fact that Rodgers shot the victim (R-II 334 n. 2). The comment footnotes text that states: "Rodgers stealthily shot Jennifer Robinson in the head without provocation" (Id. at 334). The trial court's comment was entirely inconsequential. Compare Bryant, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S218 ("Although Bryant is technically correct in his argument that the trial court misstated defense witness Gaines' testimony, this misstatement does not undermine the conclusion that the mitigator was not established by the greater weight of the evidence").

Similarly, Lawrence's parsing of the trial court's words concerning the age mitigator is entirely insignificant. In the written order, the trial court concluded that this mitigator

³³ Accordingly, the State's factual basis for Lawrence's plea indicated that Rodgers shot the victim. (T-I 7)

was entitled to "some weight" (R-II 346, App. A), and in open court orally indicated that it was entitled to "little weight" (R-II 389-90). Orally and in writing, the trial court specified how it was weighing this mitigator:

The Defendant was twenty-three at the time of Robinson's murder. Although the evidence introduced at trial tends to indicate that Lawrence's mental and emotional maturity was less than his chronological age, he was mature enough to take responsibility for his actions and appreciate the consequences flowing from them. There was no evidence of a mental or emotional maturity equivalent to a minor child of sixteen or less.

The trial court's reasoning clarified that whether the mitigator be dubbed "little" or "some," it was not a significant factor in the calculus of its weighing aggravation versus mitigation, and for that reason, this claim is also not very significant.

Because both of these matters are inconsequential, they are harmless. <u>Compare Gore</u>, 26 Fla. L. Weekly at *10 n. 10 ("trial court's description of the final moments of the homicide was based upon speculation"; "harmless in view of the other strong evidence supporting the trial court's multiple findings that support the CCP aggravating circumstance").

Moreover, neither of these matters was preserved by timely bringing them to the trial court's attention. After reading the sentence on August 15, 2000, the trial judge asked, "Anything else from counsel?," and defense counsel responded, "No, Your Honor." (R-II 397) The sentencing order was filed that same day (See R-II 331), but there is no indication of a

- 77 -

complaint to the trial judge in the record between then and the Notice of Appeal filed September 5, 2000 (R-II 364). (See R Index on introductory pages. <u>See also</u> SR Index) <u>See, e.q.</u>, Carmichael v. State, 715 So.2d 247, 249 (Fla. 1998) ("Under his proposed scenario, however, a defendant could sit silently on this right throughout the jury selection process, await the trial's conclusion, and then--in the event of an adverse outcome--raise the issue on appeal for the first time. The price of such an 'ambush'--i.e., a new trial--is prohibitively steep in terms of resources and delay--and basic fairness"); Lopez v. Singletary, 634 So.2d 1054, 1058-59 (Fla. 1993) (habeas claim that "(3) the avoid arrest aggravator was improperly found"; "allegations in these claims that appellate counsel was ineffective for not raising these issues have no merit because trial counsel did not preserve them for appeal"); Freytag v. C.I.R., 501 U.S. 868, 111 S.Ct. 2631, 2647 (1991)(Justices Scalia, O'Connor, Kennedy, and Souter concurring in part and concurring in the judgment; "'sandbagging': suggesting or permitting, for strategic reasons, that the trial court pursue a certain course, and later--if the outcome is unfavorable--claiming that the course followed was reversible error").

- 78 -

ISSUE VI

DOES <u>APPRENDI V. NEW JERSEY</u> APPLY TO CAPITAL CASES? (Restated)

Lawrence contends that <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), should apply to Florida's capital sentencing and requires both specific jury findings regarding aggravators and an unanimous recommendation of death. It does not. As this Court has repeatedly held, <u>Apprendi</u> does not affect capital sentencing schemes. Furthermore, <u>Apprendi</u> does not address what the jury must find or jury unanimity. Appellant mistakenly equates aggravators to elements. Aggravators are not elements. Rather they are guides to determining whether to impose the death penalty. Thus, contrary to Lawrence's position, as a matter of law, he was not deprived of any of the litany of rights he lists in his brief.

At the outset, the State notes that any assertion of international law (IB 91-92), in addition to being meritless, was unpreserved. Similarly, it appears that Lawrence did not file a motion for "jury only" sentencing asserting, based upon the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial, due process, or the judge as final sentencer. Therefore, these claims are procedurally barred it here. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Gore v. State</u>, 706 So.2d 1328, 1334 (Fla. 1997) (argument attacking jury instruction not the same as the one on appeal; appellate issue "was not properly preserved for review"); <u>Phillips v. State</u>, 705 So.2d 1320, 1322 (Fla. 1997) (regarding "instruction on

- 79 -

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